

EBA Public		

Decision of the European Banking Authority EBA/DC/455

of 27 June 2022

concerning the Traineeship Programme at the EBA

The Executive Director

Having regard to the Regulation (EC) No. 1093/2010 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 24 November 2010, establishing a European Supervisory Authority (European Banking Authority)1, (hereinafter referred to as "the EBA" or "the Authority"), in particular Article 68, and there of,

Having regard to Decision EBA DC 263 on the traineeship policy at the EBA,

Having regard to Decision EBA DC 264 of the Executive Director on the establishment of the maintenance grant for trainees at the EBA,

Whereas

- it is necessary to update the traineeship programme at the EBA, taking into account lessons learnt, in order to facilitate the process for candidates and for the EBA.
- (2) it is necessary to have all rules on the traineeship consolidated into one document and to repeal Decision EBA DC 265 on the traineeship policy at the EBA, Decision EBA DC 264 on the establishment of the maintenance grant for trainees at the EBA, and Decision EBA DC 385 concerning the extended duration of traineeships at the EBA in the context of the EBA's response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

After consulting the Staff Committee,

Has decided as follows:

Article 1

The document 'The EBA traineeship Policy' annexed to this decision is adopted.

Article 2



Decision EBA DC 263 of the Executive Director on the traineeship policy at the EBA is repealed.

Decision EBA DC 264 of the Executive Director on the establishment of the maintenance grant for trainees at the EBA is repealed.

Decision EBA DC 385 concerning the extended duration of traineeships at the EBA in the context of the EBA's response to the COVID-19 pandemic is repealed.

Article 3

This Decision shall enter into force on the day following its adoption.

Done at Paris, 27 June 2022

François-Louis Michaud Executive Director



Annex to Decision EBA DC 455		
27 June 2022		
Public Use		

The EBA's Traineeship Policy



4

Table of contents

1.	General	6		
2.	Eligibility criteria	6		
2.1.	L. Nationality	6		
2.2	2. University Diploma	6		
2.3	3. Languages	7		
2.4	Specific knowledge/skills	7		
3.	Selection Procedure	7		
3.1	L. Submission of applications			
3.2.	2. Selection of applications	8		
4.	Rights and duties of the trainee	10		
4.1	L Duration of traineeship	10		
4.2	2 Organisation of the traineeship	10		
4.3	3 Interruption	11		
4.4	Early termination of traineeship	11		
4.5	5 Future employment			
4.6	Working time and Absence management	12		
	4.6.1. Working time and teleworking	12		
	4.6.2. Annual leave 4.6.3. Special leave	12 12		
	4.6.4. Absence due to sickness	12		
	4.6.5. Unauthorised absence	13		
4.7		13		
4.8	·	13		
4.9	9 Sanctions and disciplinary measures	14		
5.	Financial matters	14		
5.1	L Traineeship grant	14		
5.2	Disability allowance			
5.3	Tax obligations			
5.4 Insurance		15		
	5.4.1. Sickness insurance	15		
	5.4.2. Accident insurance	16		
5.5		16		
5.6	5 Missions	16		

DECISION ON TRAINEESHIP PROGRAMME



ь.	Reports and Certificates	1/
7.	Data protection	17



1. General

These rules govern the official traineeship programme at the European Banking Authority ('EBA' or 'Authority'). This programme is addressed to university graduates who have completed their studies no longer than three years prior to the deadline for applications.

The aims of the traineeship programme are:

- 1. To provide recent graduates with a unique and first-hand experience of the workings of the EBA, an understanding of the objectives including goals of financial regulation and oversight generally, and specifically of the objectives of the EBA.
- 2. To enable such trainees to acquire practical experience and knowledge of the day-to-day work of the Authority.
- 3. To provide the opportunity to work in a multi-cultural and multi-linguistic environment, contributing to the development of mutual understanding, trust and tolerance.
- 4. To promote European integration through active participation of trainees in the performance of tasks entrusted to the Authority.
- 5. To create awareness of true European citizenship.
- 6. To provide the opportunity to trainees to put into practice knowledge acquired during their studies, and in their specific areas of competence.
- 7. To introduce trainees to a new professional world and its constraints, duties and opportunities.

Through its official traineeship programme, the EBA:

- 1. Benefits from the input of recent enthusiastic graduates, who can give a fresh point of view and up-to-date academic knowledge, which will enhance future results of the EBA or other EU Institutions and Bodies.
- 2. Creates long-term "goodwill ambassadors" for European ideas and values both within the European Union and globally.

2. Eligibility criteria

2.1. Nationality

Trainees are selected from nationals of the Member States of the European Union or a national of the European Economic Area (Iceland, Liechtenstein, Norway).

2.2. University Diploma



Candidates must have completed the first cycle of a higher education course (university education) and obtained a full degree or its equivalent by the closing date for applications. Please consult the EPSO website¹ regarding examples of eligible diplomas in different Member States.

Candidates must have completed their studies and obtained their last education diploma no longer than three years prior to the deadline for applications. The 3 years rule is not applicable for candidates undertaking PhD studies at the moment of their application for the traineeship at the EBA.

Applicants whose university or post-graduate diplomas are not issued in one of the official EU languages must provide a certified translation of these documents in English.

Candidates must provide copies of diplomas or the relevant official certificates (self-certifications will not be accepted) of all university or post-university studies declared in their application².

2.3. Languages

For the trainee to fully benefit from the traineeship and to be able to follow meetings and perform adequately, candidates must have knowledge of the English language that corresponds at least to the <u>B.2 level</u>³, the Authority's official working language.

2.4. Specific knowledge/skills

Candidates may be requested to fulfil specific requirements to be eligible for the traineeship programme, e.g., a legal degree or a master's degree in banking. Any requirement shall be stated in the vacancy notice for traineeships.

The eligibility of each candidate will be assessed by the abovementioned criteria.

3. Selection Procedure

1

¹ The university level education required for the traineeship corresponds to a bachelor's degree or equivalent (at least a three-year degree, with at least 180 ECTS). The qualifications are equivalent to the mandatory qualifications for the recruitment of officials and temporary agents at grade AD5.

² Only qualifications awarded by EU Member State authorities or European Economic Area (EEA) authorities or qualifications recognised as equivalent by the relevant authorities will be taken into consideration. If the main studies took place outside the European Union, the candidate's qualification must have been recognised by a delegated officially for the purpose by one of the European Union Members States (such as a national Ministry of Education) and a document attesting so must be submitted with the application by the closing

³ At least at the level of "<u>Independent user B2</u>", according to the Common European Framework of References for Languages.



Trainees are selected through a selection procedure in line with a traineeship vacancy notice that is published on the EBA's website. The main objective of the selection procedure is to provide the EBA with the best possible choice of traineeship candidates.

The EBA is committed to provide equal opportunities to all its employees and applicants for the traineeship. As an employer, the EBA is committed to ensure gender equality and to prevent discrimination on any grounds. It actively welcomes applications from all qualified candidates from diverse backgrounds, across all abilities, without any distinction on any ground such as sex, race, colour, ethnic or social origin, genetic features, language, religion, or belief, political or any other opinion, membership of a national minority, property, birth, disability, age, marital status or other family situation or sexual orientation, and from the broadest possible geographical basis amongst the EU Member States, or countries of the European Economic Area (Iceland, Liechtenstein, Norway).

3.1. Submission of applications

Applications must be submitted following the instructions in the specific traineeship vacancy notice published in the EBA's website.

The EBA does not accept unsolicited applications.

Trainees must submit the copies of diplomas (or relevant certificates) of all undergraduate or postgraduate studies declared in the application for the application to be valid.

Incomplete applications as well as applications received after the deadline will be rejected immediately.

3.2. Selection of applications

A selection committee (SC) composed of a member from the recruiting Departments/Units, a staff committee representative and a member of the Human Resources Unit (HR) completes the initial eligibility screening against the eligibility criteria listed in the traineeship vacancy notice, ensuring that each candidate meets the eligibility criteria and has submitted a complete application.

Candidates that meet the eligibility criteria will be placed on a reserve list that is approved by the Appointing Authority to conclude contracts (AACC). The reserve list will be valid for one year and may be extended should there be an interest in the needs of service to do so. HR will send the reserve list to the relevant EBA Departments/Units. Please refer to the EBA's privacy statement on the recruitment of trainees for the retention periods of applications.

The Department/Unit that wishes to recruit a trainee will examine and assess the applications from



the candidates on the reserve list, and shortlist those best matching the selection criteria and the Department/Unit's profile, as outlined in the traineeship vacancy notice. These candidates will be contacted by HR to determine if they have continued interest in the traineeship. Those who confirm their interest and availability will be invited for video interviews with the Department/Unit. HR will ensure that a gender and geographical balance is maintained as best as possible in the choice of candidates.

The selection process is confidential, and candidates must refrain from contacting the SC members or the members of the Department/Unit, during the selection procedure at any given time.

The interview will aim to assess compliance with the selection criteria, motivation, the ability to communicate in English and the availability of the candidate.

Following the interview, the Department/Unit will make a recommendation to the Appointing Authority to Conclude Contracts (AACC) on the candidate(s) based on merit. The AACC will make the final decision on whom to offer the traineeship to. Selected candidates will be sent a letter of intent with a traineeship offer that includes a proposed start date for the traineeship. This traineeship offer is subject to the candidate providing supporting documents confirming their eligibility, in addition to the already provided diploma or relevant certificates.

The trainee must also be able to provide the originals of all diplomas, or certified copies of all diplomas declared. Official certified translations, if the documents are not in an EU language, will be required when starting the traineeship.

Candidates that accept the offer for one traineeship placement will be excluded from selection for other traineeship placements.

The applications of all eligible candidates, including those shortlisted for an interview but not offered a traineeship position, shall be available for future traineeship recruitments and shall remain on the reserve list for the period of its validity, unless the applicant requests to withdraw their application.

At any stage of the application process, applicants may withdraw their application by informing the Authority by email. Such notification is to be sent to the email address stated in the relevant vacancy notice published on the EBA's website.

There is no appeal procedure against the decision taken by the Authority.

All candidates will be informed about the outcome of their application.

If an application is unsuccessful, the candidate may re-apply for another traineeship published under a new vacancy notice. It is however necessary to submit a new application together with all



the supporting documents within the deadline announced.

Candidates may not be recruited to any EBA Department/Unit where a conflict of interest might occur, irrespective of their academic and professional qualifications.

Trainees are responsible for ensuring that they have the correct visa, where applicable, and that they obtain all the documentation required by the French authorities.

4. Rights and duties of the trainee

4.1 Duration of traineeship

Each selected candidate can only be engaged for one traineeship at the EBA:

- The traineeship will last a minimum of 6 and a maximum of 18 months.
- The traineeship period is initially offered for a period of 6 months. The Authority reserves the right to extend the traineeship for a further period of up to 12 months, subject to budget resources available, the performance of the trainee and the needs of the service.
- The maximum total period of a traineeship is 18 months.

The traineeship starts on the 1st or 16th of a calendar month.

4.2 Organisation of the traineeship

Every year the AACC shall decide on the number of traineeships to be offered in each Department/Unit, depending on the budgetary resources available, the needs of the service and on the capacity of each Department/Unit to accommodate trainees.

Prior to starting the traineeship, the selected trainee has to sign a traineeship letter specifying the conditions of their engagement.

The selected trainee is placed under the responsibility of the relevant line manager and assigned a mentor.

A mentor should work directly with the trainee and must guide and closely monitor the performance of the trainee during the traineeship. Generally, there should be only one trainee assigned to each mentor.

The mentor must notify HR immediately of any significant incidents that occur during the traineeship (in particular: professional incompetence, bad behaviour, interruption of the



traineeship, as well as absences, sickness and accidents) that come to their attention or of which the trainee has informed them of.

The tasks to be undertaken by the trainee will be agreed at the start of the traineeship period between the line manager and mentor in consultation with the trainee.

Trainees shall be required to comply with the EBA's rules and regulations. Instructions will be given by the assigned line managers, mentor, and/or HR.

With the mentor's approval, trainees may attend meetings on subjects of interest to their work (unless these meetings are restricted or confidential), and to participate in the work of the Department/Unit to which they are attached, or cross-agency if relevant. Trainees are allowed to receive documentation and have access to data, subject to compliance with the EBA's rules on confidentiality. Trainees may under no circumstances take responsibility on behalf of the EBA on matters that may imply legal or financial impact.

Trainees may attend training courses provided that their participation does not generate additional training costs to the EBA.

4.3 Interruption

By way of exception, upon a duly justified request of the trainee and after consulting the relevant line manager, HR may authorise an interruption of the traineeship for a given period. The traineeship grant is suspended, and the trainee is not entitled to reimbursement of any travel expenses incurred during that period.

The trainee may return to complete the unfinished part of the traineeship, but only up to the end of the ongoing traineeship period.

4.4 Early termination of traineeship

If a trainee wishes to terminate their traineeship earlier than the date specified in the traineeship letter, a written request must be submitted to HR by the trainee, with a copy to their line manager and mentor.

This request must be submitted at least four weeks in advance of the foreseen termination date stating the relevant reasons.

The traineeship may be terminated on the 15th or the last day of a month.

Where appropriate, the equivalent part of the grant must be reimbursed to the EBA.



4.5 Future employment

Admission to the traineeship programme does not grant trainees the status of Temporary or Contract Agent, or any other category of staff of the EBA, nor does it give any right or priority to an appointment in the services of the EBA. Trainees can be recruited after completing their traineeship period, only through an open and transparent selection procedure as long as the conditions and rules established for employment in the relevant category of staff have been fully respected and applied.

4.6 Working time and Absence management

4.6.1. Working time and teleworking

Trainees shall respect the same working time of 40 hours per week as EBA statutory staff.

Trainees shall follow the working time and hybrid working arrangements as applicable for EBA statutory staff.

Trainees are not eligible for recuperation of hours or to work on a part-time basis.

Trainees should record their working time in the time management system.

4.6.2. Annual leave

Trainees are entitled to 2 days of annual leave per calendar month. This entitlement is acquired on a pro-rata basis counted from the first day of their traineeship. Unused annual leave days at the end of traineeship are not paid. Trainees are entitled to the same EBA public holidays, including flexible public holidays, as statutory staff.

Trainees should record their annual leave in the time management system. Leave days will be approved by their line manager.

4.6.3. Special leave

Trainees are not entitled to special leave.

4.6.4. Absence due to sickness

In case of sickness, trainees must immediately notify, via email, their line manager, mentor and



copy HR. If absent for longer than three calendar days, the trainee must provide HR with a medical certificate that does not contain any medical data, indicating the estimated length of absence. A trainee who is absent because of illness may be subject to medical checks in the interest of the service. HR will act accordingly following the medical check. Trainees may not be absent for medical reasons without a certificate for more than 6 days in a 6-month period.

4.6.5. Unauthorised absence

When a trainee is absent without justification or without notifying the mentor and unit, HR shall in writing, instruct the trainee on steps to be taken. The trainee will be instructed to provide the unit in which the traineeship takes place and HR with proper justification for the unauthorised absence. Such justification shall be provided by the trainee within a week of reception of the written notification from the HR.

Unauthorised absences will be deducted from the trainee's leave entitlement or will entail a corresponding reduction of the traineeship grant if leave has already been taken in full. The AACC may decide, following examination of the justification given, or if no justification is received before the stated deadline, to immediately terminate the traineeship without further notice. Any overpayment of the grant is to be reimbursed to the EBA. The trainee will also not be entitled to receive the travel allowance for the outward journey.

4.7 Duty of Confidentiality

Trainees must exercise the greatest discretion regarding facts and information that come to their knowledge during the course of their traineeship and are subject to the same confidentiality rules as EBA staff even after their traineeship has terminated.

Trainees are subject to Article 70 of Regulation (EU) 1093/2010 as well as to the Decision of the Management Board adopting Rules of Procedure on Professional Secrecy for Non-Staff (Decision EBA DC 199) of 18 September 2017.

They must not, in any manner whatsoever, disclose to any unauthorised person any document or information not already made public.

Trainees shall sign a confidentiality undertaking upon commencement of their traineeship.

The EBA reserves the right to terminate the traineeship and to pursue any person who does not respect this obligation.

4.8 Code of conduct and conflicts of interests

During the time of their traineeship, trainees shall neither seek nor take instructions from any government, authority, organisation or person outside the EBA. They shall carry out the duties



assigned to them objectively, impartially and in keeping with their duty of loyalty to the European Union.

Trainees shall be subject to the same rules on conflicts of interests and other ethical obligations as EBA staff. They shall be subject to the Code of Good Administrative Behaviour (Decision EBA DC 006 of 12 January 2011), the EBA's ethics guidelines (Decision EBA DC 271 of 26 April 2019) and the policy on conflicts of interests of staff (Decision EBA DC 104rev1 of 10 May 2017).

Before the commencement of the traineeship, trainees shall, using a specific form, declare any interests that could give rise to a conflict with the legitimate interests of the EBA. The Appointing Authority might adopt preventative measures where it identifies conflicts of interests.

Should a conflict of interests arise during their traineeship, trainees should, using a specific form, inform immediately the Ethics Officer. The Ethics Officer might liaise with their line manager/mentor to discuss possible preventative measures for the adoption of the Appointing Authority.

The EBA reserves the right to terminate the traineeship and to take any further measures necessary in relation to any person who does not respect the EBA's ethical obligations and the rules on conflicts of interests.

4.9 Sanctions and disciplinary measures

Trainees must exercise their duties and behave with integrity, courtesy and consideration. If the conduct of the trainee does not prove satisfactory, the AACC, following a discussion with the line manager, mentor and the trainee, may at any moment decide to terminate the traineeship.

The AACC, following a justified request by the line manager, mentor and approved by HR, reserves the right to terminate the traineeship if the level of the trainee's professional performance or knowledge of the working language is insufficient for the proper execution of their duties.

The AACC reserves the right to terminate the traineeship if at any moment it becomes apparent that the trainee knowingly made wrongful declarations or provided false statements or documents at the moment of application or during the traineeship period.

5. Financial matters

5.1 Traineeship grant



Trainees will be awarded a monthly grant. The reference for the calculation of the monthly traineeship grant is 30 % of the basic salary for EU officials in grade AD5 step 1, multiplied by the weighting factor for Paris, France. The level of the monthly maintenance grant shall be adjusted annually in line with the salary adjustment applicable to the remuneration of EU officials, normally as from 1st January of the following year without retroactive effect. The amount of the basic grant will be published on the EBA's website.

In case the trainee is unable to attend the traineeship programme, except for absence due to certified sickness, the EBA reserves the right to cease payment of the maintenance grant starting from the day following the last day of attendance.

If the trainee terminates their traineeship early, they will be required to reimburse the relevant part of the grant.

In case of overpayment, any amounts due will be recovered by the EBA.

5.2 Disability allowance

Disabled trainees may receive a supplement to their grant, equal to 50% of the amount of the grant, upon presentation of the proper justification. HR may consult the EBA's Medical Service.

5.3 Tax obligations

Traineeship grants awarded to trainees shall not be subject to the special tax regulations applied to officials and other servants of the European Union. Trainees are solely responsible for the payment of any taxes due on the grant they receive from the EBA by virtue of the laws in force in the state in which they are liable to pay income tax.

The EBA shall provide a certificate for tax purposes at the end of the traineeship period. This certificate shall state the amount of the maintenance grant received and confirm that tax and social security payments have not been made.

5.4 Insurance

5.4.1. Sickness insurance

The EBA does not provide trainees with sickness insurance cover. Before the start of their traineeship, trainees shall provide evidence that they are covered in the event of illness by a national social security scheme or a private insurance policy, and that the said scheme or policy will cover medical expenses incurred in France.



5.4.2. Accident insurance

During the traineeship period, trainees are only personally insured against the risk of accidents and death under the insurance policy in place at the Authority.

5.5 Travel Allowances

Recruited trainees may receive a flat-rate travel allowance to compensate for travel expenses at the beginning and end of the traineeship period, subject to budget availability. This is determined based on the shortest direct linear distance⁴ between the trainee's place of recruitment at the beginning of the traineeship and the location of the EBA. The postal address used by the trainee in the application for traineeship shall be considered as the place of recruitment. It is the responsibility of the trainee to inform HR about any change of their place of residence prior to the start of the traineeship. No request for a change of address shall be accepted once the decision to award a traineeship has been granted and the traineeship letter has been signed by the trainee and the AACC. If the place of recruitment is from outside the EU, the travel allowance shall be reimbursed only from the point in the European territory of a Member State which is the nearest to the place of recruitment.

Distance in kilometers between place of recruitment and Paris	Flat rate payment in EUR (one-way)
0-150	0
>150	76.44
>300	135.89
>500	220.84
>800	356.73
>1300	560.58
>2000	671.01

The trainee must complete a <u>minimum of three months</u> of the traineeship to be eligible for the inward and outward travel allowance. The outward travel allowance is paid after completion of the traineeship. The allowance will be paid only on submission of supporting documents including the itinerary, proof of payment and proof of travel.

Trainees whose place of employment is less than 150km from the place of employment are not entitled to the travel allowance.

5.6 Missions

-

⁴ The direct linear distance within the meaning of these rules shall be determined by using <u>FreeMap Tools</u>. The distance is calculated in kilometres and acts as proof in initiating the flat rate.



In exceptional cases only, the AACC after a request from the line manager and mentor of the trainee in question, may grant authorisation for a trainee to attend a mission. Trainees may only attend a mission on the condition that the mission is of a technical nature and not of a representative one.

For the reimbursement of these mission expenses, the general procedure of reimbursement provided for in the EBA's Mission Guide will apply.

6. Reports and Certificates

At the end of the initial 6 months, as well as at the end of the traineeship, in case the traineeship was extended, HR will launch the traineeship performance report to be completed by the trainee, mentor and line manager. Reports shall be completed and sent to HR within the deadline set by HR.

Trainees who have completed the traineeship will receive, after their traineeship, a certificate specifying the dates of their traineeship period, the Department/Unit in which they were engaged, and the main tasks carried out.

7. Data protection

The EBA will ensure that candidates' personal data are processed as required by Regulation (EU) 2018/1725 of the European Parliament of 23 October 2018 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data by the Union institutions, bodies, offices and agencies and on the free movement of such data, and repealing Regulation (EC) No 45/2001 and Decision No 1247/2002/EC. This applies, in particular, to the confidentiality and security of such data. For additional information please refer to the EBA's privacy statement on the recruitment of trainees.